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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Business Review
The Company's principal activity is the supply of materials and services to the construction industry.

Turnover for the year increased by £158,849,000 from £825,664,000 to £984,513,000, a rise of approximately
19% as a result of price increases. The operating profit before exceptional items increased by £3,709,000 from
£57,972,000 to £61,681,000.

An assessment of the impact of changing market conditions on the business was undertaken during the year
and as a result the Company impaired fixed assets by £2,753,000, as management identified further sites which
had been impacted by the local market conditions. There was also a reversal of previous impairments of
£26,296,000 as a result of expected increases in sales volumes and prices in individual Cash Generating Units.
These have been treated as exceptional items.

The Company’s program of divestment of surplus land holdings continued through 2022, realising a net profit on
disposal of £6,475,000 during the year.

During the year, the Company received dividends totalling £70,820,000 (2021 - £nil) from its subsidiaries, a
dividend of £40,020,000 from Midland Quarry Products Limited and a dividend of £30,800,000 from Hanson
Building Materials Europe Limited. Subsequently, the Company impaired its investment in its subsidiary Hanson
Building Materials Europe Limited by £7,651,000 to bring the carrying value in line with the underlying net assets.
This has been treated as an exceptional item.

The Company purchased additional land at Cliff Hill Quarry, adjacent to a site operated by its subsidiary, Midland
Quarry Products Limited. This will allow access to further minerals and extend the life of the quarry by several
years.

During the year the Company purchased the share capital of Charterneed Limited together with its subsidiaries,
A1 Services (Manchester) Limited and Manchester Waste Recycling Limited, companies within the recycling
business, to complement the existing product offering of the Company.

In December 2022, the Company agreed to purchase the entire share capital of Mick George Limited together
with some of its subsidiaries, subject to regulatory approval of the Competition and Markets Authority. This is
consistent with the Company's sustainability commitments to progressively move to a more circular business
model.

Directors’ statement of compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company

Section 172(1) Statement

This report sets out how the Directors have complied with section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 in making
its strategic decisions during 2022 and in considering the likely long-term consequences of those decisions and
the need to maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct. This has involved engagement with all
of the Company's key stakeholders to ensure that the Directors understand their views and interests when
making decisions and when developing the Company's purpose, values and strategy. The Directors ensure that
they listen to and consider the interests of the Company's stakeholders and that they foster relationships with the
Company's customers and suppliers. The Directors work to ensure the sustainability of the Company’s
operations within local communities in the context of the potential impact on the local environment.

Hanson UK Sustainability Policy

Effective management of safety, health, environment, quality, carbon reduction and responsible sourcing is of
key importance to the sustained success of the Company’s business. The Company's sustainability objectives
are reviewed regularly and communicated regularly to employees, contractors, visitors, key stakeholders and our
supply chain to inform and promote wider adoption of responsible practices. As a minimum, as a Hanson UK
company, the Company complies with all applicable law and regulatory requirements. Cooperation in the
implementation of Hanson UK's sustainability policy is a condition of employment, partnership and supply.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Directors’ statement of compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company
{continued)

Full details of Hanson UK's Sustainability Policy can be found on the Hanson UK website at www.hanson.co.uk.
The policy sets out Hanson UK's sustainability objectives in terms of: ensuring business and product innovation
by engaging with customers and stakeholders to continually improve Hanson UK's sustainability performance
and adopt an integrated approach to achieve the highest standards in complying with ISOs 9001, 14001, 45001,
45003 and 50001 together with BES 6001, National Highway Sector Scheme 16 and relevant CE certification
schemes; ensuring health, safety and wellbeing in the workplace; ensuring environmental responsibility to
collaborate with suppliers and fulfil Hanson UK's share of responsibility to limit global temperature rise to below

1.5°C; conserving natural resources and maximising the use of alternative materials and recycling; being a good
neighbour and fulfilling our social value requirements based upon transparency and consultation, staff
volunteering on community projects, with local jobs and local procurement; and being a fair, respectful and
inclusive company.

During 2022 the Company continued to roll out its Hanson UK 2030 commitments in relation to the six key
sustainability topics: business and product innovation; health, safety and wellbeing; environmental responsibility;
resource use and the circular economy; being a good neighbour; and fairness, inclusion and respect. The 2022
Sustainability Report sets out the 2030 targets and records progress towards attainment of these objectives.

In 2022 the Company updated and revised its social value policy which is available on the Hanson UK website
www.hanson.co.uk. The social value policy is founded on our core values and responsible leadership principles
and applies to all areas of our business, our employees and all parties who undertake activity on our behalf. It
focusses con six key areas of social value: collaboration, co-equality, championing local economies, community,
climate and communication. It follows the national TOMS (Themes, Outcomes and Measures) framework and
integrates our health, safety and wellbeing, and envircnmental commitments. A steering group ensures the
principles of the policy are imbedded within the business. During 2022 further work was undertaken to enhance,
measure and record Hanson UK's social value impact and we achieved certification to Social Value UK's Level 1
'‘Commit' stage of accreditation. A “Let's Talk Sustainability” webinar was also held involving stakeholders from
across the industry which explored social value and its increasing importance in the construction sector.

2022

Within the Company's aggregates business, the Company continued or completed various strategic investments
through 2022. These included:;

» the re-opening and commissioning of Forcett Quarry;

* investment at Penmaenmawr Quarry in North Wales to increase the number of train deliveries and reduce the
number of truck movements by road from the guarry;

= ongoing mineral reserve replenishment, including high PSV (Polished Stone Value) aggregates reserves at
Craig-yr-Hesg in South Wales.

Within the Company's asphalt business, various investments were made across the portfolio of plants including:

* new burners, which will reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions;
+ covered storage for asphalt planings that will also reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions;
« replacement bitumen tanks at a number of plants that will ensure safe and more efficient plant operaticns.

Within the Company's concrete business, the Company continued to progress or completed the following
investments:

+ a rebuilding of the concrete production facility at Byfleet, allowing for new standards in efficiency, energy usage
and emissions management;

+ the installation of a new mixer at King's Cross, London, where the unit loads two vehicles simultaneously and
produces high specification, lightweight concretes;
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Directors’ statement of compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company
{continued)

2022 (continued)

+ the new enclosed concrete plants at Victoria Deep Water Terminal in the Royal Borough of Greenwich, where
the investments will provide significant visual, air quality and efficiency improvements at a key strategic site,
reducing heavy goods traffic by over 100 vehicles a day and allowing better use of the River Thames to transport
both raw materials and finished products;

» the construction of a new plant at Frindsbury Wharf, Rochester, which replaced a 30 year old unit which had
closed in 2017 and incorporates the latest low-energy batching technology as well as a reclaimer which allows
both waste water and wash-out solids to be recycled;

» the building of more mobile concrete plants fed by water barge such as at Battersea which facilitate more
concrete production closer to the end use customer thereby reducing road haulage and CO2 discharges.

In general, all of our investments are made in the interests of ensuring long term sustainable production to
service our customers and the continuity of safe operations for our workforce, delivering value for Hanson UK
and our parent company and developing meaningful partnerships with our suppliers; investments in new
operations facilitate reductions in energy usage, water usage and emissions, lessening the impacts on both the
environment and communities.

Information relating to the Company's investments, improvements, performance, outlook and sustainability was
presented to our stakeholders through various channels. For employees, this included the Employee Forum, a
series of virtual town hall talks presented by the Hanson UK chief executive officer, driver forums and driver
engagement days and management meetings with trade unions. Regular updates from Hanson UK's CEO and
business line managing directors on business performance and strategy were provided to the workforce in 2022.

2022 saw a gradual return to more normalised working practices for the commercial teams, but with a strong
emphasis on making our customer interactions as efficient as possible. This meant that team members had
both digital and physical customer meetings, as appropriate.

The Company's Contracting division continued its approach of collaborative working with major customers in
relation to highways operations, and in 2022 it renewed, and newly won, places on a number of local authority
highways maintenance contracts around the country. A significant success was the winning of a place on both
the Central and South super regions of National Highways' Pavement Delivery Framework, which is their multi-
year highways maintenance contract.

Further investments and improvements in the interest of sustainability and lessening the potential for impact on
communities and the environment included:

+ the establishment of a biodiversity action plan for every one of our active quarries as well as a number of
geodiversity action plans,

» leading the industry's consultation response with the Minera! Products Association ("MPA") on the testing and
development of the Biodiversity Net Gain metric;

» delivering crushed rock, sand and gravel by rail and sea wherever possible, saving hundreds of thousands of
lorry miles and the associated emissions every year, with each delivery of stone at the Hinkley Poaint C jetty
taking around 250 lorry-loads off the road;

« reducing mains water usage in all of the Company's operations and deploying the use of smart meters at our
larger water-using sites;

» maximising the usage of recycled asphalt planings (RAP) in new asphalt mixes;

+» promotion of Hanson's ERA range of warm mix asphalts that typically reduce carbon emissions by 15%
compared with standard mixes;

» new washing plants at our quarries to create a new manufactured sand for use in concrete as a substitute for
land-won and marine sand;

+ promotion of the Hanson EcoPlus concrete range giving customers the opportunity to specify and use low
carbon concrete, with the mix incorporating the cement substitute Regen (Ground Granulated Blastfurnace
Slag).
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Directors' statement of compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company
{continued)

2022 (continued)

Continuing improvement in the Company's health and safety performance in 2022 included a clearly defined
health and safety improvement plan which was reviewed monthly by the Managing Director and which was
focussed on the key business risks and actions required to either eliminate or reduce them. Other improvements
included tackling Potential Fatal Incidents (PFls) and Lost Time Incidents (LTIs) to ensure both learnings and
remedial actions, as well as ensuring the establishment of root cause analysis for accidents and severe near
hits, with hundreds of employees being trained in basic incident investigation and root cause analysis techniques.

The Company continued to recognise the importance of mental health and wellbeing with the training of
employees in this area carried on during 2022. A new health and wellbeing advisor role was introduced into the
sustainability team to continue to support the health and wellbeing strategy.

Steps taken during 2022 to ensure maintenance of a reputation for high standards of business conduct included
training staff in many different compliance areas, covering our Code of Business Conduct, corruption and
anti-bribery, competition law, data protection and modern slavery, all supported by a regime of policies and
procedures that underpin the Company's purpose and values; the compliance program is supported by an online
reporting platform that allows concerns to be reported and investigated outside of reporting lines.

Further information relating to the Company's work at its larger quarries in relation to local community
engagement, biodiversity, local career opportunities and its work on reducing energy and water consumption,
can be found on the Hanson UK community website www.hanson-communities.co.uk.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Market Demand Risk

The demand for many products produced by the Company is closely linked with economic conditions. As a
result, depressed economic conditions in the United Kingdom have an adverse effect on demand for and pricing
of the Company’s preducts which could result in reduced sales and profits.

Most of the markets in which the Company operates are extremely competitive. Local factors such as the
number of competitors and production capacity, the proximity of natural resources, economic conditions and
product demand exert further competitive pressure. The pricing policies of the Company's competitors in the
markets in which it operates can have an adverse effect on the demand for and pricing of the Company's
products. Consequently the Company's profitability may be affected.

Seasonality Risk

Extended periods of inclement weather, especially periods of heavy or sustained rainfall, during peak
construction periods can result in a material reduction in demand for the Company’s products. It may also impact
the Company’s ability to produce products and consequently result in reduced revenues and profits.

Regulatory Risk

Government policy relating to the development of transport infrastructure and housing have a significant effect
on demand for the Company’s products and, as a result, the Company’s profitability. Decreases in government
funding for transport infrastructure and housing projects could reduce the funds available for spending on the
Company’s products, therefore potentially reducing sales and profits.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Changes in government policy or legislation relating to planning, the environment, health and safety and industry
related taxes could significantly affect the Company's regulatory compliance and other operating costs.
Numerous governmental approvals are required for the Company’s operations. In the past the Company has
been required to make significant capital expenditure to comply with planning, water, air and solid and hazardous
waste regulations. The Company may be required to make similar expenditure in the future o ensure business
continuity. The imposition of industry related taxes such as the aggregates levy and the climate change levy
increase the costs of the Company and encourage imports of competing products and product substitution.

Energy Risk

The Company is a significant purchaser of energy and fuel for the processing and transport of its products. The
Company also purchases significant amounts of materials including bitumen for use in asphalt production and
cement for use in premix concrete production. The cost of these materials and the cost of energy and fuel
fluctuates, sometimes by significant amounts. Increases in the costs of these materials, or their lack of
availability can significantly impact the Company's costs and disrupt its operations. The profitability of the
Company could be adversely affected if the Company was not able to recoup such costs in the prices of its
products. The Company attempts to limit its exposure to these risks by entering into hedges where appropriate.

Systems Compliance Risk

The implementation of software to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of various business processes is an
important contributor to the Company's ongoing operations. Failure to design, select appropriate suppliers and
implement such systems effectively could result in unplanned costs or reduced levels of customer satisfaction.
This could adversely affect the Company’s results and profitability.

Cyber Security Risk

Due to the current geopolitical situation and the increasing prevalence of cyberattacks as a business model, the
threat of attack, especially from external sources, is significantly heightened. This could expose the Company to
significant downtime, which could adversely affect the Company’s performance.

To counteract this threat level, Hanson UK has recently appointed an Information Security Officer who will create
and lead the Information Security Programme in the UK, intended to improve the maturity of Hanson UK's
people, processes, and technology measured against the NIST (National institute of Standards and Technology)
Cyber Security Framework. This will include cyber education for all employees, introducing information security
compliance check-points into the IT Demand/Delivery Process and supporting the creation and testing of
business continuity plans at regular intervals.

Continuous improvements to the Company’s IT networks evidence developments in cyber resilience, to ensure
security and stability are maintained at a high level.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the potential exposure of the Company to loss in the event of non-payment by a counter party. The
Company controls this credit risk through credit approval limits.

Transport Risk

Transport logistics play an important part in the Company’s supply chain whether by road, rail or river. Any
material disruption to, or fack of availability, of such transport support could significantly impact operating costs.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Pensions Risk

The Company is a principal employer of the Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme (defined benefit section) (the
“Scheme”), which is closed to future accruals. The amounts reported in the accounts relating to the Scheme are
based on advice from independent actuaries.

Results under IAS 19 can change dramatically depending on market conditions, and will lead to volatility in the
net pension asset on the Company's Balance Sheet and in Other Comprehensive Income. The actuarial
assumptions have been set so that they represent a best estimate of future experience from the Scheme. In
practice, the true costs for the Scheme could be different to those shown.

The Scheme exposes the Company to a number of risks, the most significant of which are:

* Asset volatility - the Scheme holds a significant proportion of growth assets, which, though expected to
outperform corporate bonds in the long-term, create volatility and risk in the short-term. The allocation to growth
assets is monitored tc ensure it remains appropriate given the Scheme's long term cbjectives.

* Changes in bond yields - A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the Scheme's
liabilities for accounting purposes, although this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the
Scheme's bond holdings.

+ Inflation risk - A significant proportion of the Scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation. Meanwhile, the
majority of the assets are either unaffected by or only loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that an increase
in inflation will also increase the liabilities.

» Life expectancy - The majority of the Scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so
increases in life expectancy will result in an increase in the liabilities.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

Key performance indicators (KPIs) are managed at a divisional level. As a result, the Directors have taken the
decision not to disclose performance against KPIs in individual subsidiary financial statements. Management
assess divisional performance against a number of financial KPls including turnover, profitability, sales volumes,
average selling prices and market share alongside other non financial KPIs such as health and safety and
customer satisfaction. Group performance against KPIs is disclosed in the financial statements of Heidelberg
Materials AG.

This report was approved by the board on 27 September 2023 and signed on its behalf.

(rcly Féy‘o

W F Rogers
Secretary
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Results and dividends .

The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £152,754,000 (2021 - £45,755,000).

A net actuarial loss of £105,125,000 {2021; gain of £75,449,000) was recognised during the year.

No dividend was paid during the year (2021: £nil). The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year (2021 - £nil}.

Research and development activities

The Company carries out research and development on its own behalf to advance the marketability of its
products. Research costs are written off in the year in which they are incurred. Development costs are
capitalised if they meet the criteria of IAS 38.

Future developments

The Directors believe that although there is still a lot of uncertainty concerning energy, raw material availability
and costs as a result of the impact of the Ukraine crisis, the Company will continue to see strong demand for the
Company's products and growth in the Company's revenue. The Directors will continue to focus on maintaining
margins during a continued period of cost pressures.

Going concern

On the basis of their assessment of the Company’s financial position, Hanson UK's divisional cash flow forecasts
up to December 2024 and relevant enquiries, the Directors have no reason to believe that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern.

The Directors have noted that the ultimate parent undertaking, Heidelberg Materials AG, has made an
assessment of identifiable risks on their global business activities, including the on-going impact of the Ukraine
crisis, the volatility in energy and raw materials markets, inflationary pressures, rising interest rates and the
overarching impact these factors have on construction and consumer markets, and continues to operate on a
going concern basis.

Thus the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the financial statements.

Directors
The Directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were:

B Charleton

E A Gretton

Dr C M Wendt (resigned 28 January 2022)

S L Willis

J § Whitelaw

M D Barlow

G J Day

J P Morrish

A Quilez Somolinos {appointed 28 January 2022)
G A Napier (appointed 4 September 2023)
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Statement of corporate governance arrangements

The Company has adopted The Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies. The
surmmary below sets out how the Company has applied the six principles.

Purpose and Leadership — The board of Directors recognise that the world is undergeoing profound changes
and that our building materiats and solutions shape significant development worldwide and our purpose and
leadership principles lay the foundation for the Company’s future. At the centre of the Company's actions lies the
Company's responsibility for the environment. The Company wants to be the leader in the industry on the path to
carbon-neutrality. The Company delivers long-term financial performance through operaticnal excellence,
dedication, and openness for change. The Directors have progressive minds with the ambition to drive
transformation and want to push the boundaries to strengthen innovation and deepen partnerships with
customers and other stakeholders as the Company crafts material solutions for the future.

The Directors have defined the Company's strategy as aligning with the customers at all times in the interests of
our mutual success. The Company promotes these principles and works to be the first choice for our customers,
providing consistently good services and solutiocns and protecting the local environment. The Directors work to
lead by example to ensure high ethical, social and legal standards across all of our business operations, with the
Directors committed to ensuring a fair, respectful and inclusive company that encourages a culture of
meritocracy, openness, transparency and diversity.

The Company regularly communicates its purpose, values and strategy to its workforce to embed our key
objectives and achieve the long-term success of the Company. The Company's Engagement with emplyees
section below sets out more information on the steps the board takes to monitor culture within our organisation.

The Directors champion the ability of employees to report matters of potential misconduct through a regime of
compliance policies and training, supported by an online reporting platform that provides employees and third
parties with the opportunity to address compliance related concerns independently of reporting lines. The
Directors have also embedded processes to identify and manage the conflicts of interest that may arise in the
course of Company operations.

Board Composition — the Company's board of directors is led by the chief executive officer, supported by the
financial director and the managing directors of the business lines, as well as by the legal and compliance
director. The Company’s ultimate parent company Heidelberg Materials AG has also appointed the relevant area
Vorstand director to the board who, whilst not holding the formal title of Chair, may attend relevant board
meetings as the senior, non-executive director.

The Directors believe that this provides an appropriate balance in the context of the Company's position as a
principal subsidiary of an overseas listed corporation. Since the board of the Company's ultimate parent
company has its own non-executive directors as well as a Supervisory Board with its own independent Chair, the
Directors are of the view that it would be neither desirable or efficient for the Company tc appoint additional
non-executive directors or Chair.

The Directors collectively have very extensive levels of experience in the building materials sector and bring a
wide range of commercial, operational, management and professional skills to the board. The Directors are also
of the view that the size of the board is sufficient and appropriate relative to the Company's turnover and
businesses and provides ample capacity to oversee the operations of the Company. Directors continue their own
professional development through their respective memberships of the Institute of Quarrying, accountancy and
other professional bodies.

The Directors recognise that in line with much of the building materials industry, the Company has more to do to
ensure better representation on our board of Directors for the purposes of ensuring diversity in line with the
Equalities Act 2010. The Directors have established a fairness, awareness, inclusion and respect committee
chaired by a managing director, which has published a target for 20 per cent of the Company's senior
management to be female by 2025. Furthermore, over 20 per cent of the Company's own executive team
members are now female, which the Directors believe represents strong progress.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Statement of corporate governance arrangements (continued)

Directors’ Responsibilities — regular management of everyday operations and commercial activity is delegated
both to the business line managing directors, who meet on a monthly basis, and to the executive commitiee
which meets once every two months. The Hanson UK executive committee also includes each of the human
resources, sustainability and IT directors, extending the expertise, capacity and diversity of the Company’s senior
management.

The business line managing directors focus on health and safety incidents, sustainability, major projects, capital
expenditure and business line strategy, whereas the executive committee concentrate on wider policy. These
forums facilitate efficient, effective decision making on the basis of informed decisions and debate, both at
business line and company-wide levels. Succession planning for every Director and member of the executive
team is also in place and reviewed three times a year.

The Company does not have a separate remuneration committee as such, although the remuneration of
managing directors includes a long-term incentive element in collaboration with the remuneration strategies
devised by the Company’s ultimate parent company and its own supervisory board.

The Company has a suite of corporate governance policies, which includes: a management responsibilities
policy applicable to all directors and requiring financial control, legal and operational compliance, safety and
quality across our operations; a dignity and respect policy that safeguards against the risk of bullying and
harassment; a fairness, inclusion and respect policy that sets out the Directors' commitment to ensuring a fair,
respectful and inclusive Company that encourages a culture of meritocracy, transparency and diversity; and our
group's code of business conduct, which sets out requirements in relation to legal compliance, conflicts of
interest, the confidentiality of information, fair employment practices and protection of the environment. The
Directors keep these policies under pericdic review.

Opportunity and Risk — the Company’s executive team is incentivised to consider the long-term generation and
preservation of value since the Company's mineral assets may often require a high level of capital investment
and long-term planning in order to ensure the continuity of reserves and operations. The Directors carry out
annual and quarterly reviews of reserves and resources relative fo operational assets and constraints in order to
identify short-life sites and replenishment needs; long-term capital expenditure, property and mineral planning
considerations may be required, to provide reserves that can eventually generate value in the long term.

The Company also has a general risk committee that meets on a quarterly basis and supervises Hanson UK's
risk management processes and associated reporting. Risks across the business are owned in the first instance
by operations and employees, subject to review by the executive committee and the general risk committee.

The Directors have also implemented an internal control framework comprising measures ranging from
accounting controls and delegated levels of financial authority to detailed capital expenditure, financial reporting
and contract requirements, underpinned by periodic internal audit, with regular reports to the Directors and the
Company's ultimate parent company.

Executive Remuneration — executive remuneration follows the same structure as the Company's other
management grades, incorporating basic pay, with variable pay based upon annual objectives for the Company
and the individual, as well as providing a number of benefits such as car provision, health cover and pariicipation
in the Company's defined contribution pension scheme; the Company’s levels of remuneration are designed to
secure and retain a high calibre of management and a skilled workforce, with executive remuneration being
benchmarked against other salary bands within the Company, as well as against any available sector data; the
Company has adopted the Hay job evaluation methodologies to objectively grade every staff function.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT {(CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Statement of corporate governance arrangements (continued)

Whilst the Company does not have a separate remuneration committee, the Company's remuneration levels are
reviewed and subject to annual approval by the Company's ultimate parent company, based upon the policies of
the ultimate parent company's own supervisory board; long term incentives are offered to the senior executive
directors to complement both long service and the sustainable success of the company. Annual objectives
include performance objectives to ensure successful, efficient, sustainable operations that will encourage the
generation of value in the mid and long term, whilst promoting safe operations for our workforce, drivers and
contractors; performance objectives are also set out on the basis of the Company’s vision and strategy.

The Company has acknowledged the existence of a gender pay gap based upon the number of women in senior
management and certain operational roles. The Directors are taking steps to address the gap in relation to
matters such as leadership, recruitment and monitoring.

Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement - the Company's s172 Statement includes a summary of how the
Company engaged with key stakeholders during 2022. The Employee Engagement Report also sets out the
many steps the Company takes to engage with its workforce. The Directors believe it is essential for the
Company to engage proactively and meaningfully with all key stakeholders: with our customers; with local
communities; with our employees; and with our contractors and suppliers.

As set out in the Employee Engagement Report, the Company has established an employee forum that includes
representatives from the various business lines. The forum mests regularly and engages with the Hanson UK
chief executive officer and managing directors with regard to business performance and prospects, strategic
objectives, health and safety and the sustainability of operations. The chief executive officer also holds a series
of national communication roadshows every year in the form of informal town hall talks where similar matters are
presented to and discussed with the workforce,

Business update videos are regularly issued to employees, along with the Hanson UK Team magazine which set
out updates on business performance, strategy and the steps we take to support local communities. Driver
forums and similar dialogues with trade unions are also held.

The Company has also implemented many steps to engage with employees and prioritise health and safety.
These include: the regular attendance on site by the executive team to ensure visibly felt leadership; an annual
safety week, when employees focus on safety management and clean, safe sites; a Back to Work safety day on
the first working day of each year; and business line health and safety improvement plans covering a range of
topics throughout the year to help foster a culture of zero harm.

A strong regime of policies, procedures and training supports the Company's purpose and values, embedding
safe working practices and requiring compliance with applicable laws on matters such as bribery and corruption,
medern slavery, data protection and competition law, supported by an online reporting platform that allows
concerns to be reported and investigated outside of reporting lines.

Hanson UK engages with its customers on many different levels. Qur commercial teams plan ahead to ensure
field visits to customer sites and digital communications are also made, together with regular proactive outbound
calls from our customer service centre. This allows for meaningful dialogue and feedback so that our services
and products can be delivered as customers need.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Statement of corporate governance arrangements (continued)

We have invested in customer focussed programs such as Customer Excellence, Sales is a Science, Leading by
Example and Professional Skills. These are designhed to ensure we understand the needs of our customers so
that we can provide services and solutions that deliver value for our customers, allowing us to realign product
and service offerings.

We also reach out to customers by offering shared Continuous Professional Development (CPD} seminars,
supporting designers, architects and engineers within customer operations on innovative products and specifying
sustainable concrete. We also operate a merchant academy that supports staff within our merchant customers
with technical support and training.

Our larger sites and quarries also facilitate engagement and hold community liaison meetings with local
residents. The Company values long-term relationships to ensure that we retain local support for the
sustainability of our operations. We have established a dedicated website www.hanson-communities.co.uk that
facilitates strong levels of engagement with communities at our larger sites and quarries.

These dedicated community pages provide immediate contact information for site management and also provide
information on matiers such as visits from schools and resident groups, the local ecology and our conservation
programs, our support for projects in the community, as well as career opportunities.

Our regular trade press releases and presence on social media platforms such as Facebook, Linkedin, Twitter
and Instagram also allow for engagement with our customers, suppliers and other stakeholders. We also operate
an up-to-date, optimised website that is designed to allow quick and simple access by customers and other
stakeholders using mobile devices.

With regard to our suppliers, the Company allows for both competitive tendering and the establishment of
longer-term strategic relationships and framework agreements. Suppliers are required to accept our Supplier
Code of Conduct, which helps foster sustainable partnerships based on mutual trust, requiring vendor
compliance with international social accountability standard SA8000, environment standard ISO 14001 and the
principles of the International Labour Organisation. Together with our Supplier Code, these set out vendor
requirements on matters such as working conditions, environmental compliance, heaith and safety, business
ethics, respect for human rights, freedom from discrimination, as well as the requirement that our own vendors
require upstream adherence in their own suppiy chains.

Collectively, the Directors believe that the Company's stakeholder engagement facilitates dialogue and two-way
communication that foster the effective sustainable relationships with our key stakeholders.

Engagement with stakeholders

The Directors' statement on compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company included within
the Strategic Report includes a summary of how the Company engaged with its key stakeholders during 2022.

Engagement with employees

The Company takes a number of measures to ensure proactive and meaningful engagement with its workforce -
this applies to all employees and all companies within Hanson UK.

Hanson UK values engagement with its workforce, as a key stakeholder. The engagement takes place on many
different levels, using a variety of formal and informal measures, which facilitates two-way dialogue to ensure
employees have a direct voice to the executive team.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Engagement with employees (continued)

An employee forum has been established, with 11 active employee representatives representing the various
business lines and staff functions. Historically, the forum met once a year with additional meetings held at the
request of either the employee representatives or management. However weekly meetings with the employee
forum were held from the start of the COVID-19 crisis to keep the representatives abreast of changing policies,
business impact and performance with the forum members raising questions and providing feedback on behalf
of their constituents. Following the pandemic it was agreed that more regular contact had been both beneficial
and essential and that fortnightly meetings should now continue to be held to most effectively utilise the forum.

Four members of the forum also sit on the ultimate parent company's European Works Council, which the
Directors believe represents a positive opportunity for the UK workforce to make its voice heard directly at the
level of the ultimate parent company.

The employee forum acts as a key information and discussion channel between employees and executive
management. At the September 2022 meeting, Hanson UK's chief executive officer (CEQ), together with
business line managing directors, provided detailed updates on health and safety progress and related
improvement plans, on sustainability and our commitment to achieving carbon neutrality, on business
performance and market outlook, as well as on the core objectives of our strategy.

Employee representatives raised numerous poinis of discussion during the meeting,, with employees invited to
anonymously submit questions in advance. These processes lead to a combination of management
commitments, reviews and explanations on a wide range of safety, environmental, operational and commercial
matters. Minutes are taken which are published on the Hanson UK intranet, together with the questions and
answers. The Directors believe that the employee forum provides a positive and fransparent means of engaging
with the workforce as a key stakeholder, in the interests of the long-term sustainability of the Company and its
operations.

In addition to the employee forum, the CEQ delivers a national leadership communication roadshow each year.
These take the form of informal town hall talks, with the CEO providing detailed updates to staff regarding
business performance, strategy and the priorities for the year ahead, as well as giving the workforce the
opportunity to put questions directly to the senicr management in attendance.

Other measures to facilitate effective engagement with employees include the use of regular business update
videos by executive management, as well as the quarterly publication of Hanson UK's Team magazine, which is
sent to every employee's home address, and includes regular updates through the year on business
performance and strategy. Hanson UK's Team magazine also communicates to employees the many positive
measures Hanson UK takes to support our local communities as key stakeholders in the context of the long-term
sustainability of our operations.

Additionally in November 2022 Hanson email accounts were rolled out to all blue-collar operational staff which
has now given them access to all our digital communications, thereby improving our communication channels
and allowing engagement with the wider workforce.

The Directors also value the consultations undertaken with trade unions, setting out detailed business
performance updates when meeting with them. Driver forums have also been established, allowing focused
engagement and briefings with the personnel in the supply chain. The Head of Human Resources supervises all
of these processes and as a member of the Hanson UK executive team reports back on a monthly basis on
feedback received from employees and on how the Company's values and culture are embedded within the
workforce. Employee surveys have also been carried out pericdically as a further means of monitoring the
culture and values within our workforce, leading to the development of plans for managers to address feedback
received. The 2022 employee survey showed a 5% further increase in employee engagement from 68% to 73%.
The results were cascaded throughout the organisation and action plans are developed and implemented within
each business line as well as Hanson UK. The next survey will be carried out in May 2024.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Engagement with employees (continued)

Hanson UK values the importance of visible felt leadership in managing all its operations. This involves executive
management regularly attending site, to lead by example and engage with staff with regard to the vision, values
and culture of Hanson UK, in order to ensure the health and safety of our employees and to monitor the degree
to which our values are embedded within our operations.

A further component of engagement with employees is the annual Hanson UK return to work carried out on the
first working day of the New Year, with a Back to Work safety stand down before the year's operations
commenced, in order to cascade the 2022 year end performance and to communicate the plans for 2023. Each
business line has put in place health and safety improvement plans which cover a range of topics throughout the
year.

To continue to support our commitments to Health and Wellbeing a new Health and Wellbeing Specialist role
was introduced in 2022 to assist with strategy planning, communication and engagement in this area. There are
regular email circulations, lunch and learn sessions concerning Wellbeing topics and a published calendar of
events for the year.

The health and wellbeing of employees are priorities which impact the success of the business. The steering
group advocates mental and physical wellness for everyone at Hanson UK and encourages employees from all
operations to become involved. Specialist Start the Conversation training is provided to line managers and
supervisors and the Company works closely with the charity Mates in Mind to raise awareness of mental health
issues among staff and provide mental heaith first aid training, so that managers feel able to recognise warning
signs and ensure support. Additionally, over 150 mental health first aiders have been trained across the business
and refresher training and coaching provided to ensure our first aiders are supported and their skills are kept up
to date.

Hanson UK is committed to being a fair, inclusive, and respectful business, whilst raising awareness of key
challenges both internally and across the industry. To implement this commitment, we have a Fairness,
Awareness, Inclusion and Respect (FAIR) committee. Led by a member of the executive board and made up
from a range of diverse backgrounds the committee shape our strategy and promote the business as a place
where anyone, regardiess of gender, background, age, ethnicity, disability or sexual orientation feels welcome
and able to have a successful career.

In addition to the FAIR committee, there are now two employee networks: Network of Women (NOW) and the
LGBT+ network. The Network of Women continues to be supported and is growing with fortnightly committee
meetings held to monitor progress. The network host regular ‘lunch and learn’ sessions which are open to
anyone in the business.

Since the launch of the LGBT+ committee in September 2021 the network has grown to include a wider range of
employees. The network provides a community space for LGBT+ people and allies o communicate and share
their experiences and provides peer to peer support for all persons.

To further embed iInclusion and Diversity 25 inclusion Champions have now been trained. The role of
the Inclusion Champion is to be a visible point for questions, queries and situations involving diversity and
inclusion, as well as to escalate issues or questions to the FAIR committee. They are role models for positive
inclusion practice, promoting all aspects of diversity, inclusion and equality in the workplace. They also
educate and demonstrate on appropriate constructively challenging non-inclusive situations including the use
of toolbox talk sessions.

Employees are provided with an occupational health program that includes annual and biennial medicals
depending on job profile. An Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) provides employees with immediate
access to confidential 24-hour telephone counselling and support. The helpline is available to support afl Hanson
UK employees and provides support through work and life issues and problems arising, ranging from legal to
medical, stress and general health, fitness and wellbeing advice. The EAP is completely confidential, with high
level statistical information relating to usage level being passed to management for periodic review.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT {CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Engagement with employees (continued)

Hanson UK's values are also underpinned by a broad range of policies ranging from management
responsibilities and matters of legal compliance, to dignity at work and ensuring faimess, inclusion and respect in
the workplace at all times. Where employees do not feel able to express concerns within the structure of
reporting lines, an online reporting platform has been established to provide employees with an opportunity to
address any compliance related concerns and matters of potential policy transgression, within a safe and
protected process; issues raised are reviewed and investigated, with reporting back to the Hanson UK executive
team.

The various measures described in this report are reviewed annually by the Hanson UK executive team and the
Company believes that collectively they allow for a strong level of communication and engagement with
employees.

Employee involvement

The Company carries out its business through a regional structure, consisting of business units.

Each of these business units is encouraged to make its employees aware of the financial and economic factors
affecting the performance of their employing unit. Such businesses evolve their own consultative policies.
Methods of communication used include bulletins, intranet and management briefings. Employment policies are
designed to provide equal opportunities irrespective of colour, ethnic or national origin, sex or marital status.

Training for employees continues in line with the economic climate prevailing within each of the businesses.
Courses and seminars are held particularly in the field of industry associated technology.

Disabled employees

The Company gives every consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the
requirements of the job may be adequately fulfilled by a disabled person.

Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Company's policy, wherever practicable, to provide
continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career development and
promotion wherever appropriate.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting ("SECR") disclosure presents our carbon footprint within the
United Kingdom across Scope 1, 2 and to some extent scope 3 emissions, an appropriate intensity metric, the
total energy use of electricity, gas and transport fuel and an energy efficiency actions summary taken during the

relevant financial year

Year to 31st Dec 2022 Year to 31st Dec 2021

Energy consumption used to calculate 179,003,516 266,569,704
emissions (kWh)

Emissions from combustion of gas tCOze 9.645 20,877
(Scope 1}

Emissions from combustion of fuel for 9,434 12,132
transpori purposes tCOze (Scope 1)

Emissions from business travel in rental cars 0 0

or employee-owned vehicles where company
is responsible for purchasing the fuel tCOze

(Scope 3)

Emissions from purchased electricity 1{COze 16,685 21,357
{Scope 2, location-based)

Total gross tCO2e based on above {location- 35763 54,366
based) *

Intensity ratio (t{COze/Tumover in £000} 0.0363 0.0658
(location-based)

Emissions from purchased electricity tCOze 88 N/A
(Scope 2, market-based)

Total gross tCOze based on above (market- 19,167 N/A
based)

Intensity ratio {{COze/Tumover in £000) 0.0195 NIA

{market-based)
*The preserited emissions in this section differ from the tolal emissions of the company.

Energy Efficiency Action Summary

The Company forms part of the Hanson UK operating division of Heidelberg Materials AG. Heidelberg Materials
has committed to decrease its CO2 emissions. The 5 concrete promises announced at the Capital Markets Day
in May 2022 and the Beyond 2020 strategy highlights sustainability, in particular carbon neutrality, as one core
pillar of our business strategy.

Heidelberg Material's long-term success depends on sustainable business practices as well as trusting relations
with our neighbours, business partners, and employees. Therefore, the sustainability strategy of Heidelberg
Materials is based on three pillars: environmental protection, social responsibility, and good corporate
govemance (ESG), all contributing to the transformation towards a circular and sustainable building materials
value chain.

The target is fo enhance the value of the Group through sustainable and result-oriented growth. Earning the cost
of capital and achieving sufficient financial performance are the necessary prerequisites to generate returns for
shareholders and guarantee the Company's permanent entrepreneurial ability to act, allowing it to invest in
innovation and growth as well as in the development of its personnel and the Company.

Heidelberg Materials has committed to decrease its CO2 emissions. The ambitious goals are anchored in
Hanson Uk's Beyond 2020 strategy and now also, since May 2022, in the 5 concrete promises that were
presented by the CEO of Heidelberg Materials AG, Dr. von Achten, at the Capital Markets Day 2022:

1. We focus on what we do best: heavy building materials.

2. We commit to generate 50% of our revenue from sustainable products by 2030.

3. We commit to reduce CO2 emissions by almost 50% to 400kg CO2/t CEM by 2030.

4. We will make this transition a successful business case.

5. We drive the change for the benefit of our customers, our shareholders, our employees, and the society we
live in.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting {continued)

At a Heidelberg Material AG level, non-financial indicators have been subject to an assurance process in order to
demonstrate both commitment and due diligence in reporting.

At the Company level, these corporate commitments consolidate the approach taken. The Directors are focused
on effective management of safety, health, environment, quality, energy, carbon, and responsible sourcing.
These areas remain of key importance to the continued and sustainable success of the business.

The Company continues to use a systematic and integrated approach to energy and carbon reductions through
its accredited management systems being certified to both ISO 14001 Environmental Management and 1SO
50001 Energy Management, that covers all operations.

The Company continues to take a holistic approach to net zero, developing strategic carbon roadmaps across
each product group to meet science-based targets and help fulfil its share of the responsibility to keep the global
temperature rise below 1.5°C.

The Company strives for improvement opportunities across sites and operations and has recently completed a
number of projects.

The Company has continued to focus on quarry planning and on waste reduction through an initiative known as
“total rock” ensuring that a higher proportion of material meets specification at the first pass. Results have
continued to be very good providing high levels of efficiency. The Company successfully trialled Hydrotreated
vegetable oil (HVO) fuel in partnership with leading suppliers at Chipping Sodbury, one of the country’s largest
quarries, providing an extremely low carbon production run.

The Company has further developed its lean management through increased 58 workplace organisation training
and good quarry practice, with positive improvements in employee engagement leading to higher safety
standards and a boost to energy efficiency training. This area is expected to develop further in 2023 as yet more
opportunities are realised.

The Asphalt business line continues to invest strategically with further installation of replacement burners and the
completion of commissioning of a new production plant at Pateley Bridge. The business line has also continued
to focus on optimising mix composition and temperature profiles with further developments in low temperature
asphalt and has been working with the Mineral Preduct Association and key customers to increase the market
penetration and acceptance of low temperature product and the use of recycled asphalt pavement (RAP). With
continued volatility in the supply of asphalt fuels the Company has conlinued te use a wider variety of alternative
fuels.

Tha Company has continued to develop the integration of sirategic railheads at production facilities including the
new concrete production facility in Birmingham, a site which also includes renewable generation with onsite solar
panels.

The Company is working with government agencies to develop hydrogen ready production solutions including
planning development of trials at asphalt plants. These projects include feasibility studies for large-scale fuel
switching and form strategic parts of Net Zero plans.

The Company has established a culture of proactive and preventative maintenance using advanced tools such
as vibration analysis and oil sampling. These systems maximise the effectiveness of process equipment through
targeted and effective actions improving resource efficiency from existing assets. In addition to a focus on
digitisation of data through improved metering the Company has improved tools for the assessment of carbon
and energy efficiency benefits on all relevant capital expenditure.

The Company’s primary electricity supply remains the zero carbon “BLUE for business” tariff from EDF, the only
exception being the landlord sites. The Directors continue to support development projects for renewable energy
including solar generation in partnership with suppliers at Company sites and within the wider supply chain. The
Company has committed to decarbonising light company vehicles and has an increasing number of electric cars
and vans across its fleet. In addition, the installation of charging points across both its sites and employees’
homes has been facilitated with a partnership with Shell.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (continued)
The Company continues to be certified to 1ISO 6001 Responsible Sourcing of Construction Products and aims to

conserve natural resources using resources appropriately and sustainably and, where possible, by substituting
primary resources with alternative and recycled materials.

Methodology Notes
_Reporting Period January 2022 — December 2022
Boundary [consolidation Opesational approach
approach)

Alignment with financial SECR disclosure has been prepared in line with Hanson Quarry Products Europe
_reporting Limited's annual accounts made up to 31st December 2022
Reporting method GHG Emissions reporting are in line with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocal
ate Acoounting and Reporting Standard
Emissizns factor source DEFRA. 2022 foral emissions fantors

Conversicn factor Gasalmne:
source Federal Register EPA; 40 CFR Part 88; e-CFR, June 13, 2017
EPA GHG Emission Factors Hub
Diesel:
U.S. Energy Information Administration — British Thermal Unit Conversion factors
2020
LPG:
Climate Leaders Greenhouse Gas Inventory Protocal Core Module Guidance Direct
Emissions from Stationary Combustion Sources 2008

Caloulation method Activity Data x Emission Factor = GHG emissions {tCOze}

Activity Dats x Conversion Factor = kWh consumgtion
Other redevant Where applicable consumption was converted to KiWh using conversion factors linked
information on above, while emissions were calculated with the DEFRA emission factors.
calculation The percentage of the Hanson Quanry Products Europe Limited employee numbers

of the total employee numbers (64.8%) is applied to the Intal transport diesel and
petrol amount to estimate the company’s usage. Diesel usage by forklift trucks is not
yettracluﬁ nparately AnaverageS%hmeperhowonﬂwn;mmsmmed

Basedonexpenence an average af2 hmn pef fun mne a d.ayforal working days
inthe UK is estimated for 2 machines that work on sites.
Less than 19 of the iotal electric power were based on estimated figures. Depending
on the nature of the missing data the following estimation methods were used:
Average value of +/-2 surmounding months: Average value from past 3 months; Value
from the same month af the prior year.

Dual reparting approach Dual reporting allows us to compare our purchasing decision (market-based
approach — green electricity) to the overall GHG-intensity of the grid (focation-based
approach — grid electricity)

Amount of carbon free

electricity (kWh) 85,848,970 kWh

imported from the grid

Information on carbon ~ The electicity supplied to Hanson Quany Products Europe Limited by EDF for

free electricity 01.01.2022 to 31.12.2022 has been generated from 100% carbon free (nuclear)
sources, except for landlodd consumption. Using the GHG Protocol Corporate
Standards’ market-based approach the above enables us to report 0" emissions
under Scope 2.

Reason for he intensity  For consistency, due to the cement market data order, tumover has been chosen for

measurement choice our intensity metric as the is precluded by law from ishi ction
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (continued)

data. Tumover reflects business performance and following the recommendations of
the SECR reporting guidance on financial metrics.

Exclusions ' The Scope 3 transport fuels and the assaciated emissions were calculated in the first
reportng year (2020) and were found to be de minimis. As the information is not
practical to abtain mutinely and is immaterial, we have exduded this category from
our annual reporting.

The usage of the truck fleet is non reportable as the company hires a franchise
company.

Rounding Due to rounding there might be a minor difference compared to the actual GHG
emissions (no more than 19%).

Directors' indemnity

Heidelberg Materials AG has indemnified, by means of directors' and officers' liability insurance, one or more
Directors of the Company against liability in respect of proceedings brought by third parties, subject to the
conditions set out in section 234 of the Companies Act. Such qualifying third party indemnity provision was in
force during the year and is in force as at the date of approving the Directors’ Report.

The articles of association also provide for the Directors to be indemnified by the Company subject to the
provisions of the Companies Act.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the persons who are Directors at the time when this Directors' Report is approved has confirmed that:

* so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are
unaware, and

+ the Direclor has taken all the steps that cught to have been taken as a Director in order to be aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.

Independent Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP having indicated their willingness to act will continue in office, as auditors of the
Company, in accordance with section 487 of the Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board on 27 September 2023 and signed on its behalf.

ey F'zy-o

W F Rogers
Secretary
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors' Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework”, and applicable law).

Under company law, Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

° select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

® make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

° state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

° prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the

Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

This Responsibilities Statement was approved by the board on 27 September 2023 and signed on its behalf.

focty Flys

W F Rogers
Secretary
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Hanson Quarry Products
Europe Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Hanson Quarry Products Europe Limited's financial statements:

+ give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of its profit for the year then ended;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual Report™), which
comprise: Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022; the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Changes in Equity for
the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

Woe conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under |SAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

Woe remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to other entities of public interest, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided.

We have provided no non-audit services to the company or its controlled undertakings in the period under audit.

Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

¢ Tesling the mathematical accuracy of the cash flow forecasts and the medels and reconciling these to Board approved budgets;

» Performing a comparison of budget versus prior year actuals to assess management's ability to forecast accurately;

» Understanding the key assumptions management have applied in developing their forecasts. Where appropriate, we engaged experts
to assess management assumptions or validated the assumptions to third party information;

« Assassing the disclosure given in the financial statements in respect of going concern and whether it gives a fair and balanced view.
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Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months
from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's ability to
continue as a going concem.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going cancern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial staltements does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicilly stated in this report, any form
of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform
procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based an the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act
2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report cortain opinions and matters
as described below.

Strategic report and Directors' Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic raport and Directors' Report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and ils environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify
any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstaterment, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concem,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concem basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to cbtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high lev el of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK} will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of imegularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to health and safety and environmental legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material
effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regutations that have a direct impact on the financial statements
such as UK tax legislation and the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent
manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls}, and determined that the principal risks were related to
posting inappropriate journal entries; omitting, advancing or delaying recegnition of events and transactions that have occured during the
reporting period, and management bias in accounting estimates or judgements to manipulate results. Audit procedures performed by the
engagement team included:

* Reviewing meeting minutes of the board for evidence of breaches of regulations and further reviewing any relevant corespondencs;

« Identifying and testing journal entries based on our risk assessment and evaluating whether there was evidence of management bias
that represents a risk of material misstatement due to fraud;

+ Inquiries of management in respect of any known or suspected instances of non compliance with laws and regulations and fraud;

s Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates and obtained corroborative
evidence to support their reasonableness;

+ Incorporating an element of unpredictability into the audit procedures performed;

¢ Reviewing outstanding legal cases and claims against the Company.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from emror, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's websile at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
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Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for

any other purpose or to any other parson to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

« we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

« adequate accounting records have nat been kept by the company, or retums adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

+ cartain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
« the financial statements are not in agreemant with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

ok Cad,
Stuart Couch (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Bristol

28 September 2023
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Turnover 4 984,513 825,664
Change in stocks of finished goods and work in progress 5,908 (1,364)
Other operating income 5 25534 39,441
Raw materials and consumables (597,318) (485,790)
Other operating expenses 6 (199,131) (174,979)
Exceptional items 7 15,892 11,368
Staff costs 9 (126,854) (113,079)
Depreciation and amortisation 14, 16 (30,971) (31,921)
Operating profit 77,573 69,340
Income from shares in group undertakings 70,820 -
Interest receivable and similar income 11 18,080 6,950
Interest payable and similar expenses 12 (4,791) {3,393)
Profit before tax 161,692 72,897
Tax on profit 13 (8,938) (27,142)
Profit for the financial year 152,754 45,755
Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Actuarial (loss) / gain on defined benefit schemes {140,166) 121,220
Movements on deferred tax relating to pension surplus 35,041 (45,771)
(105,125) 75,449

Total comprehensive income for the year 47,629 121,204

All amount relate to continuing operations.

The notes on pages 29 to 63 and Appendix | form part of these financial statements.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

REGISTERED NUMBER: 00300002

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Non current assets
Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Tangible assets

Investments

Defined benefit pension scheme asset

Current assets

Stocks
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one
year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after more
than one year

Provisions for liabilities

Deferred taxation
Other provisions

Net assets

Note

15

14
16
17
28

18
19
20

21

22

24
25

2022
£000
5,117
443
527,908
637,674
508,363
1,679,505
60,660
707,925
10,225
778,810
(515,009)
263,801
1,943,306
(66,770)
1,876,536
(148,422)
(31.411)
(179,833)

1,696,703

2021
£000
5117
1,000
502,160
627,325
639,337
1,774,939
49,614
643,540
9,820
702,974
(548,534)
154,440
1,929,379
(71,841)
1,857,538
(174,729)
(33,735)
(208,464)

1,649,074
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 00300002

BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 26
Revaluation reserve 27
Other reserves 27
Profit and loss account 27

Total equity

2022
£000

51,917
195,297
4,650
1,444,839

1,696,703

2021
£000

51,917
195,297
4,650
1,397,210

1,649,074

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on

27 September 2023.

A Quilez Somolinos
Director

The notes on pages 29 to 63 and Appendix | form part of these financial statements.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1.

General information

Hanson Quarry Products Europe Limited (“the Company”) is a limited company incorporated and
domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of its registered office and principal place of business is
disclosed in the Company Information.

Accounting policies

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance
with Financial Reporting Standard 101 (FRS101) 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' and the
Companies Act 2006.

The Company's financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is also the Company's
functional currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except when
otherwise indicated.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have, unless otherwise stated, been consistently applied to all periods
presented.

The Company is itself a subsidiary company and is exempt from the requirement to prepare group
accounts by virtue of section 401 of the Companies Act 2006. These financial statements therefore
present information about the Company as an individual undertaking and not about its group.
Financial Reporting Standard 101 - reduced disclosure exemptions

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:
. the requirements of paragraphs 45(b) and 46-52 of IFRS 2 Share-based payment

) the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
. the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
. the requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' to present

comparative information in respect of:
- paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1;
- paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment;
- paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible Assels;

® the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10({f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 38D, 40A, 40B, 40C, 40D,
111 and 134-136 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

® the requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2,

Accounting policies (continued)

2.2

2.3

Financial reporting standard 101 - reduced disclosure exemptions {continued)

+ the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors

+ the requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

o the requirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions
entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a
party to the transaction is wholly owned by such a member

e the requirements of paragraphs 130(f}(ii). 130(f)(iii), 134(d}-134(f) and 135{c)-135(e) of IAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

This information is included in the consolidated financial statements of Heidelberg Materials AG as at
31 December 2022 and these financial statements may be obtained from Berliner Strasse 6, D 69120
Heidelberg, Germany.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured as the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, value added tax and other sales
taxes. The company recognises revenue when performance obligations have been satisfied and for
the company this is when the goods or services have transferred to the customer and the customer
has the control of these. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

- the Company has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer;

- the Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with cownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

- itis probable that the Company will receive the consideration due under the transaction; and

- the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Construction contracts

Revenue from sale of contracting is recognised over time as the work is performed. In this case
control is transferred to the customer over time. Revenue is recognised on a cost plus basis (incurred
cost plus fee) or schedule of rates basis (work physically completed multiplied by rates).

Contract revenue

Contract revenue corresponds to the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and any

variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they
will result in revenue, and they can be reliably measured.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2. Accounting policies (continued)

23

24

25

Revenue (continued)
Contract costs

Contract costs include costs that relate directly to the specific coniract and costs that are attributable
to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a
specific contract comprise: site labour costs {including site supervision); costs of materials used in
construction; depreciation of equipment used on the contract; costs of design, and technicai
assistance that is directly related to the contract.

Where contracts include multiple performance obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to
each performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected cost plus margin. For service contracts including
a goods element, revenue for the separate good is recognised at a point in time when the good is
delivered, the legal title has passed and the customer has accepted the good.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances
change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit or
loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by
management. In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays the fixed amount based on a
payment schedule. If the services rendered by the Company exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

The Company will not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant
financing component if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between transfer of goods or
services and the receipt of payment will be one year or less.

The Company may recognise the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when
incurred, if the expected amortisation pericd is one year or less.

Going concern

On the basis of their assessment of the Company's financial position, Hanson UK's divisional cash
fiow forecasts up to December 2024 and relevant enquiries, the Directors have no reason to believe
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to
continue as a going concern.

The Directors have noted that the ultimate parent undertaking, Heidelberg Materials AG, has made
an assessment of identifiable risks on their global business activities, including the on-going impact of
the Ukraine crisis, the volatility in energy and raw materials markets, inflationary pressures, rising
interest rates and the overarching impact these factors have on construction and consumer markets,
and continues to operate on a going concern basis.

Thus the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and they continue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. After recognition, under the cost model, intangible
assels are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment

losses.

Expenditure on computer software which is not deemed to be integral to the computer hardware is
capitalised at cost and amortised on a straight line basis over its economic life.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.5

2.6

27

Other intangible assets (continued)

Options to acquire freehold / leasehold mineral bearing land are capitalised and amortised over the
period of the option. Upon exercise any remaining unamortised balance will be treated as the asset
acquisition cost.

The carrying value of intangible fixed assets is reviewed annually for impairment. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in
the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are
treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income when the asset is derecognised.

The useful economic lives of intangible assets range from 1 to 6 years.
Goodwill

Goodwill is the difference between amounts paid on the acquisition of a business and the fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities. The UK Companies Act requires goodwill to be reduced by
provisions for depreciation of a systematic basis over a pericd chosen by the directors, its useful
economic life. However, under IFRS 3 Business Combinations goodwill is not amortised.
Consequently, the Company does not amortise goodwill, but reviews it for impairment on an annual
basis or whenever there are indicators of impairment. The Company is therefore invoking a “true and
fair view override” fo overcome the prohibition on the non-amortisation of goodwill in the Companies
Act.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Company’s cash-generating units {or groups of cash
generating units) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Each unit or group of units to which
goodwill is allocated shall represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes.

Tangibte fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost model, other than investment properties, are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

At each reporting date the company assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined which is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. An impairment loss is recognised where the carrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMSBER 2022

2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.7

2.8

29

Tangible fixed assets (continued)

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets
less their residual value over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line methoed.

Depreciation is provided on the following basis:

Freehold property - up to 50 years

Long term Leasehold Property - over the life of the lease

Plant and machinery - 4 - 30 years

Mineral resources - Based on the tonnage of the material extracted

during the year

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted

prospectively if appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting
date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in profit or loss.

Government grants

Government and similar grants received for the acquisition of assets are recognised only when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received and any conditions attached to them have been
fulfilled. The grant is held in the Balance Sheet within deferred income and released to the Statement
of Comprehensive income over the periods necessary fo match the related depreciation charges or
other expenses of the asset as they are incurred.

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are held at historical cost less provision for
impairment.

2.10 Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, being the estimated selling price less
costs to complete and sell. Cost is based on the cost of purchase on a weighted average basis. Work
in progress and finished goods include labour and attributable overheads.

At each balance sheet date, stocks are assessed for impairment. If stock is impaired, the carrying
amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell. The impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.11 Financlal instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either fair value or
amortised cost, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

The Company's financial assets include cash, trade and other receivables, and amounts due from
group undertakings.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2, Accounting policies {continued)

2.11 Financial instruments (continued)
Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value where they are financial assets held within
a business model whose cobjective is to sell the financial asset, and the contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount cutstanding. Any fair value gains or losses at each reporting period is
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset.

In addition financial assets where the contractual terms of the financial asset do not give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding are alsc subsequently measured at fair value.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost where they are financial assets held
within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows, and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount cutstanding. Amortised cost is
calculated using the effective interest methocd and represents the amount measured at initial
recognition less repayments of principal plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance,

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Company always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and amounts due on confracts
with customers. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated based on the
Company's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for faclors that are specific tc the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. Lifetime ECL
represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.

The ECL required for other debt instruments is determined using a three stage model.

» At the initial recognition of the financial asset an expected credit loss provision is recorded for the
twelve month period following the reporting date. Any interest revenue is calculated on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

* If the credit risk of that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, a
loss allowance for full lifetime expected credit losses is recorded. Any interest revenue is calculated
on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. Should the significant increase in credit risk
reverse within subsequent reporting periods then the expected credit losses on the financial
instrument revert to being measured based on an amount equal to the twelve month expected credit
losses.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Financial instruments {continued)

« If objective evidence of impairment exists, a loss allowance for full lifetime expected credit losses is
recognised. Any interest revenue is calculated on the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowing and
payables, net of directly attributable transactions costs.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described
below:

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss, when the financial liability is
held for trading, or is designated as at fair value through profit or loss. This designation may be made
if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise, or the financial liability forms part of a group of financial instruments which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, or the financial liability forms part
of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire combined
contract to be designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Any gains or losses arising on
changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a
designated hedging relationship.

At amortised cost

Financial liabilities which are neither contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination, held for trading, nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability, or where appropriate a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported if there is a currently

enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2. Accounting policies {continued)

2.12 Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The Company's functional and presentational currency is Sterling.
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. Non-
monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction and non-monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange rate
when fair value was determined.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the seftlement of transactions and from the
translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss except when deferred in other comprehensive income as
qualifying cash flow hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the Statement of Comprehensive income within 'finance income or costs'. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit or loss within 'other operating income'.

2.13 Pensions

The Company participates in the Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme, which is of the funded defined
benefit type that share risks between entities which are under common control. Funds are held
externally under the supervision of the corporate trustees.

Management has determined that no contractual agreement or stated policy exists for charging to
individual group entities the net defined benefit cost for the plans as a whole measured in accordance
with IAS 19 'Employee Benefits', as a result, the net defined benefit cost is recognised in these
financial statements as the Company bears the risks relating fo the plans and is considered the
principal sponsoring employer.

The Company also participates in the Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme (Defined Contribution
Section). Company contributions are expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as
incurred.

2.14 Emission allowances

Emission rights are shown as inventories. Emission rights granted free of charge are initially
measured at a nominal value of zero. Emission rights acquired for consideration are accounted for at
cost using the moving average method and are subject to write-down in the event of impairment.
Provisions for the obligation to return emission rights are recognised if the actual C02 emissions up
to reporting date are not covered by emissicn rights granted free of charge. The amount of provision
for emission rights already acquired for consideration is measured at the carrying amount and, for
emission rights yet to be acquired in order to fulfil the obligation, at the market value as at the
reporting date.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.15 Provisions for liabilities

A provision is recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settie the
obligation.

Provisions for the expected costs of rectification, repairs and rationalisation are charged against
profits when required. The effect of the time value of money is not material and therefore the
provisions are not discounted.

2.16 Restoration provision

The Company aims to reinstate land following mineral extraction or industrial occupation to a
beneficial use as soon as is reasonably practicable. This is performed by consulting with interested
parties to ensure that the after use is appropriate to both the needs of local people and the natural
environment.

The Company's accounting policy is to make a provision on a discounted basis to return a quarry site
to a decontaminated, cleared and improved site and to make provision to restore the present
extracted areas to currently anticipated after use. The unwinding of discounts relating to restoration
are expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and included in interest payable.
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2. Accounting policies {(continued)

2.17 Current and deferred taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, with the following
exception:

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combinaiion and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

However, for taxable temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiaries, branches and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, a deferred tax liability shall be recognised in accordance
with |AS 12.38.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax
losses can be utilised.

Deferrad income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates
that are expected to apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates
and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date. Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are offset, only if a legally enforcement right exists to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities, the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation
authority and that authority permits the company to make a single net payment.

Income tax is charged or credited to other comprehensive income if it relates to items that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income. Similarly, income tax is charged or credited
directly to equity if it relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity. Otherwise income
tax is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2.18 Exceptional items

The Company presents as exceptional items those material items of income and expense which,
because of their nature and expected infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit separate
presentation tc allow shareholders to understand better the elements of financial performance in the
year, so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods and to assess better trends in financial
performance.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.19 Research and development

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure on an individual project is
recognised as an intangible asset when the Company can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability
of resources to complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
development.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amoriisation of the asset begins when development is complete and the asset is
available for use. It is amortised evenly over the period of expected future benefit. During the period
of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually.

2.20 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources

All costs associated with exploration and evaluation of mineral resources as well as the research
phase, are expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. Property, plant &
equipment that is acquired in the exploration, evaluation phase or development phase which can then
be further utilised within the business irrespective of the outcome of the exploration, evaluation or
development phase is capitalised and depreciated over its useful economic life.

2.21 Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim equity dividends are
recognised when paid. Final equity dividends are recognised when approved by the shareholders.

2.22 Leases
The Company as a lessee

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. The
Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
agreements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Company
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease uniess another systematic basis is more representative of the time patiern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Leases for quarries do not fall within the scope of
IFRS 16. These leases are considered pending transactions and the expenses are recognised in the
material costs in the period in which they arise.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. The interest rates were
calculated on the basis of the remaining term of the leases.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

. fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives,

] variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or
rate at the commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
. the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.22 Leases (continued)

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is included in 'Creditors' on the Balance Sheet.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made.

The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use asset) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised discount rate.

. the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease paymenis using the initial discount rate {(unless the lease
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

. a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate.

The right-of-use assefs comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease
payments made at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use
asset reflects that the Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are included in Tangible Fixed Assets in the Balance Sheet.

The Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for
any identified impairment loss as described in note Exceptional Items.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in profit
or loss.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and
instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The
Company has not used this practical expedient.
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3.

Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Restoration and environmental provisions

Provisions for damages and environmental obligations are measured on the basis of an extrapolation of
the claims and estimates of the development of costs. A change in the influencing parameters may have
an impact on the Statement of Comprehensive Income as well as the amounts recognised in the Balance
Sheet. The recognition and measurement of the other provisions are based on estimates of the
probabilities of future outflow of resources and on the basis of empirical values and the circumstances
known at the reporting date. The actual outflow of resources may differ from the outflow of resources
expected at the reporting date and may have an impact on the recognition and measurement. Further
explanations on provisions can be found in note 25.

impairment of goodwill and other non-current assets

A cash flow-based method in accordance with IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets) is used to determine the
recoverable amount of cash-generating units as part of the impairment test for goodwill and other non-
current assets. In particular, estimates are required in relation to future cash flows of the groups of cash-
generating units as well as to the discount rates used (discounted cash flow method).

- Cash flow estimates extend over a five-year planning period, after which a terminal value is applied. A
three-year detailed bottom-up operational pian approved by the directors forms the basis for these
estimates.

- The sales volumes derived from the demand are generally based on the latest industry estimates and
assumption of constant market shares.

- Variable costs are assumed to evolve in line with the projected development of sales volumes and
prices.

- In view of the volatility in the energy markets, we expect high energy costs in the year ahead which will
ease again over the course of the planning horizon.

- The variables used in the WACC calcluation are the risk-free rate, market risk premium, volatility
(levered and unlevered beta) and the gearing ratic. The credit spread as premium to the risk-free rate was
derived from the rating of the homogenous peer group. The peer group is subjected to an annual review
and adjusted if necessary. The follwing rates were used in the impairment test.

2022 2021
Weighted average cost of capital before taxes 10.64% 8.5%
Perpetual growth rate 2% 2%

A change in the influencing factors may have a significant impact on the existence or amount of
impairment losses. Explanations concerning the composition of the carrying amount of goodwill and other
non-current assets and the impairment tests are provided in note 15 and note 16 respectively.

Impairment of investments

The Company reviews investments in subsidiaries and other investments for impairment if there are any
indications that the carrying values may not be recoverable. The carrying value of the investment is
compared to the recoverable amount and where a deficiency exists, an impairment charge is considered
by management.

The recoverable amount represents the net assets of the investment at the time of the review or where
applicable is represented by an estimate of future cash flows expected to arise from the investment. A
suitable discount rate is applied to the future cash flows in order to calculate the present value.

Reversals of impairments are recognised where there is a favourable change in the economic
assumptions in the period since the provision was made.
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3.

Judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

Recoverability of amounts owed by group undertakings

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

Estimating the defined benefit pension scheme obligations

Measurement of defined benefit pension obligations requires estimation of future changes in inflation and
mortality rates, and the selection of a suitable discount rate. See note 28 for further details.

Turnover

Turnover is attributable to the continuing activity of the supply of building materials and services to the
construction industry. :

An analysis of turmover by class of business is as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Sale of goods 884,971 733,281
Rendering of services 99,542 92,383

984,513 825,664

All turnover arose within the United Kingdom.

Timing of revenue recognition:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Goods and services fransferred at a point in time 884,971 733,281
Goods and services transferred over time 99,542 92,383

984,513 825,664

The Company applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose
information about remaining performance obligations that have criginal expected durations of one year or
less.

The amount of revenue recognised in 2022 from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied)
in previous year is £nil {2021 - £nil).

The amount of revenue recognised in 2022 that was included in the contract liability balance at the
beginning of the year is £2,530,000 (2021 - £1,824,000).
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5. Other operating income

Other operating income

Net rents receivable

Profit on disposal of tangible assets
Foreign exchange gains

6. Other operating expenses

Distribution expenses

Selling and administrative expenses
Expenses for third party repairs and services
Rental and leasing expenses

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets
Other taxes

Foreign exchange losses

Other expenses

7. Exceptional items

Restructuring costs

Impairment of tangible fixed assets

Impairment reversal of tangible fixed assets

Impairment / impairment reversal of fixed asset investment

2022 2021
£000 £000
15,008 13,224
2,453 2,653
7,955 23,417
118 147
25,534 39,441
2022 2021
£000 £000
139,703 119,192
593 597
13,236 11,090
10,859 10,803
1,480 1,304
107 127
325 149
32,828 31,717
199,131 174,979
2022 2021
£000 £000
- 351
2,753 13,621
(26,296) (21,319)
7,651 (4,021)
(11,368)

(15,892)
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7. Exceptional items (continued)
During the year an assessment of the impact of changing market conditions on the business was
undertaken and as a result an impairment of tangible fixed assets of £2,753,000 was made. In addition,
£26,296,000 of the impairment of tangible fixed assets made in the previous year was reversed.
In the prior year management identified some sites which were impacted by weakening local market
conditions and an impairment of tangible fixed assets of £13,621,000 was made. In addition, £21,319,000
of the previous impairment of tangible fixed assets was reversed.
During the year, the Company impaired its investment in Hanson Building Materials Europe Limited by
£7,651,000 to bring the carrying value in line with the underlying net assets. Net assets have been used
as an approximation of the fair value less costs of disposal. In the prior year, the Company had partially
released the impairment against this investment by £4,021,000.

8. Auditors’ remuneration
The Company paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements
and for other services provided to the Company:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Audit services ' 660 620

Fees for audit services include costs incurred on behalf of other group undertakings. It is not practicable
to ascertain what proportion of such fees relate to other group undertakings.

9. Staff costs

Staff costs were as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 107,061 93,207
Social security costs 11,153 9,719
Cost of defined benefit pension scheme 2,739 3,305
Cost of defined contribution pension scheme 5,901 6,848

126,854 113,079

Included within wages and salaries above is a charge of £418,000 (2021 - £636,000) in relation to the
Heideberg Materials AG Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP).
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The average monthly number of employees, including the Directors, during the year was as follows:

2022 2021
No. No.
Production and distribution 1,106 1,046
Administrative and sales 1,153 1,271
2,259 2,317

10. Directors' remuneration
2022 2021
£000 £000
Directors' emoluments 2,825 2,804
Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 85 85

2,910 2,889
During the year retirement benefits were accruing to 7 Directors (2021 - 7) in respect of defined
contribution pension schemes.
The highest paid Director received remuneration of £798,000 (2021 - £903,000).

The value of the Company's contributions paid to a defined contribution pension scheme in respect of the
highest paid Director amounted to £8,000 (2021 - £nil).

The Directors of the Company are also directors of a number of the group's fellow subsidiaries.

11. Interest receivable

2022 2021
£000 £000
Net interest on defined benefit pension asset 18,090 6,950
12. Interest payable and similar expenses
2022 2021
£000 £000

Other interest payable 4,791 3,393
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13. Current and deferred taxation

Corporation tax

Current tax on profits for the year

Total current tax

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences
Changes to tax rates
Adjustments in respect of previous periods

Total deferred tax

Taxation on profit on ordinary activities

Reconciliation of the tax charge for the year

2022 2021
£000 £000
204 238
204 238
22,455 11,705
- 16,762
(13,721) (1,563)
8,734 26,904
8,938 27,142

The tax assessed for the year is lower than (2021 - higher than) the standard rate of corporation tax in

the UK of 19% (2021 - 19%). The differences are explained below:

Profit on ordinary activities before tax

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19% (2021 - 19%)

Effects of:

Non-tax deductible amortisation of goodwill and impairment

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes, other than goodwill amortisation
and impairment

Changes to tax rates

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods
Book profit on chargeable assets

Capital gains

Dividends from UK companies

Group relief

Transfer pricing adjustments

Total tax charge for the year

Change in corporation tax rate

The main rate of corporation tax increased from 19% to 25% on 1 April 2023.

2022 2021
£000 £000
161,602 72,897
30,721 13,850
- (764)
1,228 788
5,389 19,572
(13,721) (1,564)
(1,387) (4,639)
961 3,833
(13,456) -
(1,321) (4,038)
524 104
8,938 27,142
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14. Intangible assets

Cost
At 1 January 2022
Additions

At 31 December 2022
Amortisation

At 1 January 2022
Charge for the year on owned assets

At 31 December 2022

Net book value

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2021

Other

Computer intangible
software assets Total
£000 £000 £000
15,133 115 15,248
- 16 16
15,133 131 15,264
14,154 94 14,248
573 - 573
14,727 94 14,821
406 37 443
979 21 1,000
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15. Goodwill
2022
£000
Cost
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 8,401
Accumulated impairment
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 3,284
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 5,117
At 31 December 2021 5117

The UK Companies Act requires goodwill to be reduced by provisions for depreciation on a systematic
basis over a period chosen by the directors, its useful economic life. However, under IFRS 3 Business
Combinations, goodwill is not amortised. Consequently, the Company does not amortise goodwill, but
reviews it for impairment on an annual basis or whenever there are indicators of impairment. The
Company is therefore invoking a "true and fair view override” to overcome the prohibition for the non-
amortisation of goodwill required by the Companies Act. Had the Company amortised goodwill, a period
of 20 years would have been chosen as its useful economic life. Profit for the year would have been
£872,000 lower (2021 - 872,000 lower) had goodwill been amortised on this basis.
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16. Tangible fixed assets

ROU
Property Property ROU Plant
and mineral Plant and and Mineral and
resources machinery Resources Machinery Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2022 560,845 532,800 81,487 46,017 1,221,249
Additions 3,218 20,816 7,065 2,877 33,976
Disposals (17,228) (16,586) (432) {1,157) (35,403)
Transfers between classes 351 {351) - - -
At 31 December 2022 547,186 536,779 88,120 47,737 1,219,822
Depreciation
At 1 January 2022 306,513 359,008 24,051 30,517 719,089
Charge for the year on owned
assets 3,278 13,453 - - 16,731
Charge for the year on right-
of-use assets - - 4,846 8,821 13,667
Disposals (17,036) (15,888) (401) (705) {34,030)
impairment charge 967 1,786 - - 2,753
Impairment losses written
back {16,032) (10,264) - - (26,296)
At 31 December 2022 276,690 348,095 28,496 38,633 691,914
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 270,496 188,684 59,624 9,104 527,908
At 31 December 2021 255,332 173,892 57,436 15,500 502,160

————— — — — —
| —————————————— S B ————————___J S sl
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Tangible fixed assets (continued)

The net book value of property and mineral resources may be further analysed as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Freehold land and building 227,278 213,526
Leasehold property 43,218 41,806

270,496 255,332

In accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ the carrying values of the Company's assets at 31
December 2022 have been compared to their recoverable amounts, represented by their value in use to
the Company.

The historical cost of mineral bearing land shown at valuation amounts to £185,818,000 as at 31
December 2022 (2021 - £197,512,000) and the accumulated depreciation thereon would have been
£170,569,000 (2021 - £196,071,000).

Mineral bearing land was revalued internally, on an open market value for existing use basis on 1 July
1889 by a professionally qualified surveyor.

The net book value of assets held at valuation was £241,345,000 as at 31 December 2022 {2021 -
£273,901,000). Total cost and wvaluation as at 31 December 2022 was £489,800,000 (2021 -
£501,494,000). Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2022 was £248455000 (2021 -
£273,901,000).

Plant and machinery includes £41,398,000 (2021 - £35,413,000) in respect of assets in the course of
construction.
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17. Fixed asset investments

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2022
Additions

At 31 December 2022
Impairment

At 1 January 2022
Charge for the period

At 31 December 2022

Net book value

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2021

Investments
in
subsidiary
companies
£000

2,347,362
18,000

2,365,362

1,720,037
7,651

1,727,688

637,674

627,325

During the year the Company purchased the share capital of Charterneed Limited together with its

subsidiaries, A1 Services (Manchester) Limited and Manchester Waste Recycling Limited.

During the year, the Company impaired its investment in Hanson Building Materials Europe Limited by
£7,651,000 to bring the carrying value in line with the underlying net assets. Net assets have been used
as an approximation of the fair value less costs of disposal. In the prior year, the Company had partially

released the impairment against this investment by £4,021,000.
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17. Fixed asset investments (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings

The investments in which the Company directly held any class of share capital are as follows:

Country of
Name incorporation
Cumbrian Industrials Limited England and
Wales
Habfield Limited England and
Wales
Hanson Building Materials Europe England and
Limited Wales
Midland Quarry Products Limited England and
Wales
Charterneed Limited England and
Wales

Class of
shares
Ordinary

Deferred
Ordinary

A Ordinary

B Ordinary
A Ordinary

B Ordinary
C Ordinary
Ordinary

Holding
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

Principal activity
Group finance company

Property rental

Investment holding company

Aggregates and asphalt
production

Investment holding company

The registered office of all investments was Hanson House, 14 Castle Hill, Maidenhead, SL6& 4JJ. After
the year end, the registered office was moved to Second Floor, Arena Court, Crown Lane, Maidenhead,

Berkshire, SL6 8QZ.

A full listing of indirectly held investments is presented within Appendix I.

18. Stocks

Raw materials and consumables
Finished goods and goods for resale

Replacement costs of stock

2022 2021
£000 £000
15,465 11,962
45,195 37,652
60,660 49,614

The difference between purchase price or production cost of stocks and their replacement cost is not

material,
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19. Debtors

Due after more than one year

Other debtors
Amounts recoverabie on long-term contracts

Due within one year

Trade debtors

Amounis owed by group undertakings

Other debtors

Prepayments and accrued income

Amounts recoverable on long-term contracts

2022 2021
£000 £000
487 14,493
586 539
1,073 15,032
59,328 56,561
597,967 535,764
18,257 15,694
24,298 9,509
7,002 10,980
707,925 643,540

Included within amounts owed by group undertakings is an amount of £251,759,000 (2021 -
£193,904,000) which is unsecured, repayable on demand and accrues interest at SONIA (2021 -

overnight GBP LIBOR). GBP LIBOR was replaced by SONIA on 1 January 2022,

The remaining amounts owed by group undertakings are interest free. All amounts owed to group

undertakings are unsecured, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

Amounts recoverable on contracts comprise:

Recorded contract turnover
Less: payments on account

2022 2021
£000 £000
159,550 157,009
(151,962)  (145,490)
7,588 11,519
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19.

20.

21.

Debtors (continued)

In respect of long term construction contracts in progress at the balance sheet date:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Contract costs incurred to date 22,044 20,157
Recognised losses to date - -
Contract retentions - -
Cash and cash equivalents

2022 2021

£000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 10,225 9,820
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2022 2021

£000 £000
Contract liabilities : 8,050 7,874
Trade creditors 113,067 134,298
Amounts owed to group undertakings 317,536 329,891
Corporation tax 204 414
Other taxation and social security 714 765
Lease liabilities 9,838 12,284
Other creditors 38,549 37,133
Accruals and deferred income 27,051 25,875

515,009 548,534

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and

are repayable on demand.
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25.

26,

27.

Provisions
Restoration
and
Other environment Total
£000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2022 4,723 29,012 33,735
Charged to profit or loss 6,028 (377) 5,651
Discounted adjustments - {(2,628) {2,628)
Utilised in year {2,685) {2,662) {5,347)
At 31 December 2022 8,066 23,345 31,411
Other

Other provisions include amounts committed in respect of redundancy and other restructuring costs and
provisions for rectification works where instances of defective supply have been notified. The provisions
are expected to be utilised within 3 years.

Restoration & environmental

Restoration and environmental provisions relate mainly to the costs of restoring quarries and other sites
after use as required by legal or other constructive requirements. Restoration and environmental
provisions will be utilised as and when mineral reserves at the Company's quarries are extinguished,
which can last from 6 months up to 60 years.

Provisions for terminal restoration have been discounted at 4.02% (2021 - 1.18%) per annum on current
prices and where appropriate have been established after taking account of the advice of suitably
qualified and experienced consultants and after establishing the costs in line with current practice and
standards. All amounts greater than 12 months are discounted.

Share capital
2022 2021
£000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid

103,833,567 (2021 - 103,833,567) ordinary shares of £0.50 each 51,917 51,917

The Company has no authorised share capital limit.

Reserves

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the excess of the fair value of land and buildings over cost. As of 2017
no transfer has been performed between the revaluation reserve and the profit and loss account as it is

not a mandatory requirement.

Other reserves

Other reserves includes a capital reserve which represents amounts received from Hanson Trustees
Limited for the purpose of paying future liabilities relating to the closure of employee share schemes.
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28,

Pension commitments

During the year, the Company participated in the defined benefit section of the Hanson Industrial Pension
Scheme (the "Scheme”) and relevant employees are eligible for benefits under this funded defined
benefit Scheme. Funds are held externally under the supervision of the corporate trustee (the "Trustee").
The Company participates in the Scheme along with several other UK companies within the Heidelberg
Materials AG group {the "Group").

The results of the latest funding valuation at 31 December 2021 have been adjusted to the balance sheet
date by an independent actuary from AON Hewitt Limited taking account of experience over the period
since 31 December 2021, changes in market conditions, and differences in the financial and
demographic assumptions. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current
service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The Scheme was closed to future accruals in September 2010. Scheme assets are stated at their market
values at the respective balance sheet dates.

The assets and liabilities of the Scheme are recognised in the financial statements of the Company and
the balances at 31 December were:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Scheme assets at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents 31,854 73,706
Equity 160,643 151,507
Interest rate swaps 689 (1,201)
Nominal government bonds 385,207 637,923
Nominal corporate bonds 95,825 122,495
Index linked bonds 836,080 1,126,964
Real estate 95,367 108,408
Insurance policies 6,681 9,595
Other - 96,238
Fair value of Scheme assets 1,612,346 2,325,635
Present value of Scheme Liabilities (1,103,983) (1,686,298}

Defined benefit Scheme assets 508,363 639,337

Scheme assets can be further disaggregated as:

Equity

- Investment of £68,088,000 is in a pooled investment world equity fund with inputs based on indirectly
observable quoted prices

- Investment of £92,555,000 is in a pooled investment infrastructure equity fund with inputs that are
uncbservable.

Interest rate swaps have inputs that are unobservable.
Real estate

One of the property funds valued at £9,792,000 is listed. The remaining property funds valued at
£85,575,000 are unlisted and the inputs are unobservable.
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Pension commitments (continued)

The value of the “buy-in" insurance policies held in the name of the Trustee has been set equal to the
value of the matched liabilities.

The Company and Trustee have agreed a long-term strategy for reducing investment risk as and when
appropriate. This includes an asset-liability matching policy which aims to reduce the volatility of the
funding level of the Scheme by investing in assets such as swaps which perform in line with the liabilities
of the Scheme so as to protect against inflation being higher than expected.

The Trustee aims to achieve the Scheme's investment objectives through investing partly in a diversified
mix of growth assets which, over the long term, are expected to grow in value by more than low risk
assets like cash and gilts. This is done within a broad liability driven investing framework that uses cash,
gilts and other hedging instruments like swaps in a capital efficient way. In combination this efficiently
caplures the trustee risk tolerances and return objectives relative to the Scheme's liabilities. A number of
investment managers are appointed to promote diversification by assets, organisation and investment
style.

The Scheme has not directly invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in properties or
other assets used by the Group.

Included within the Statement of Comprehensive Income

2022 2021

£000 £000
Expected return on Scheme assets (45,680) (30,398)
Interest on pension liabilities 32,8 23,707
Included within other finance expense (12,779) (6,691)
Current service cost 2,739 3,305
Past service cost - -
Administrative expenses 1,375 788
Total (8,665) (2,597)
included within Other Comprehensive (expense)/income

2022 2021

£000 £000
Actuarial loss on Scheme assets 675,653 892
Actuarial gain on Scheme liabilities (535,487) (122,112)

Net loss/(gain) on Scheme 140,166 (121,220)
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Pension commitments (continued)

The main actuarial assumptions used in the valuation are set out below:

2022 2021

% %
Rate of salary increases* 3.10 3.25
Rate of increase in pension payments LPI 5% 297 3.16
Discount rate 4.80 2.00
RPI inflation assumption 3.20 3.30
CPI inflation assumption 2.60 275

* For 2022 this reflects CPI inflation + 0.5% p.a. (2021 - CPI inflation + 0.5% p.a.).

The mortality assumptions are based on recent actual mortality experience of members within the
Scheme with an allowance for future improvements. The assumptions mean that a member currently
aged 65 is expected to live on average for a further 21.1 years if they are male (2021 - 21.7 years) and for
a further 23.1 years if they are female (2021 - 23.6 years).

For a member who retires in 2043 (2021 - 2042} at the age of 65 the assumptions are that they will live on
average for a further 22.1 years after retirement if they are male (2021 - 22.5 years), and for a further 24.3
years after retirement if they are female (2021 - 24.9 years).

The sensitivity of the present value of Scheme liabilities to changes in the principal assumptions used is
set out below.

Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities
Discount rate Increase / decrease 1% Decrease 11% / increase 13%
Rate of pension increase Increase / decrease 0.25% Increase 2% / decrease 2%
Life expectancy Increase / decrease 1 year Increase 4% / decrease 4%

The assumption on discount rate for sensitivity analysis has been changed from 0.5% to 1% considering
the significant movement in the discount rate during the year.

Changes in present value of the defined benefit obligations are analysed as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Opening defined benefit obligation 1,686,298 1,865,761
Current service cost 2,739 3,305
Interest cost 32,901 23,707
Actuarial gains on Scheme liabilities (535,487) (122,112)
Net benefits paid out {82,468) {84,363)
Closing defined benefit obligation 1,103,983 1,686,298

The actuarial gains on Schemes liabilities can be broken down into effects from the adjustment of financial
assumptions resulting in gains of £516,127,000 (2021 - £123,794,000), effects from experience
adjustments resulting in a loss of £8,974,000 (2021 - £6,177,000), and effects from changes in
demographic assumptions resulting in gains of £28,334,000 (2021 - £4,495,000).
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28. Pension commitments (continued)

Changes in the fair value of the Scheme assets are analysed as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Opening fair value of Scheme assets 2,325,635 2,380,513
Expected return on Scheme assets 45,680 30,398
Administrative expenses paid by the Scheme (1,375) (789)
Actuarial losses on Scheme assets {675,653) (892)
Contributions paid by the employers 527 768
Net benefits paid out (82,468) (84,363)
Closing fair value of Scheme assets 1,612,346 2,325,635
Amounts for the current and previous four years:
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fair value of Scheme assets 1,612,346 2,325,635 2,380,513 2,247,904 2,131,717
Defined benefit obligation (1,103,983) (1,686,298) (1,865,761) (1,686,834) (1,566,352)
Surplus in Scheme 508,363 639,337 514,752 561,070 565,365
Experience (losses)/gains on
Scheme assets (675,653) (892) 182,621 151,897 (38,285)
Experience (losses)/gains on

Scheme liabilities * (8,974) (6.117) 17,984 2,818 (8,309)

* This item consists of (losses)/gains in respect of liability experience only and excludes any change in
liabilities in respect of changes to the actuarial assumptions used.

UK legislation requires that pension schemes are funded prudently. The latest funding valuation as at 31
December 2021 was agreed on 22 December 2022. Under the recovery plan agreed as part of the
valuation, no contributions in respect of death in service, incapacity retirement and redundancy retirement
benefits will be made. The valuation showed a surplus of £358,500,000, therefore no deficit recovery
contributions are required. Expenses, including levies payable to the Pensions Protection Fund (PPF} are
met out of the Scheme assets. The actuarial method used in the calculation of the technical provisions
underpinning the recovery plan was the projected unit method. The forecast contributions payable for the
year ending 31 December 2023 are expected to be £527,000, which is net of unallocated funds within the
Scheme. The Company does not contribute to the employer contributions payable as the scheme has
enough surplus to fund the scheme. These contributions could be subject to change at the next triennial
valuation.
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28.

30.

Pension commitments (continued)

The Scheme also has a contingent funding mechanism in place whereby further contributions are payable
to the Scheme based on operating income targets agreed between the employers and the Trustee. Once
the Scheme is in surplus, contingent funding mechanism contributions are no longer payable.

The Company has guaranteed a proportion of the funding obligations that the other funding sponsors of
the Scheme have to that Scheme. In addition, the ultimate parent undertaking, Heidelberg Materials AG
has guaranteed the entire funding obligations of the Scheme.

The Company also participates in the Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme (Defined Contribution Section).
The charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of this section of the Scheme was
£5,901,000 (2021 - £6,848,000).

At the year end, there were unpaid defined benefit pension contributions of £nil (2021 - £nil} and unpaid
defined contribution pension contributions of £2,097,000 (2021 - £1,976,000) included in other creditors.

The Company recognises the Scheme surplus in accordance with the requirements of IFRIC 14 "The
Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction®. The Trustee of
the Scheme does not have the unilateral right to commence wind-up of the Scheme. Thus, the Company
assumes that the Scheme continues in existence until the last benefit payments are made to members, at
which point any residual assets are returned to the employer in line with the rules of the Scheme.

The Company is not yet clear on whether the IASB's proposed amendments to IFRIC 14 will affect its
ability to receive a refund of surplus in this situation. Once the amendments have been finalised,
management will review the likely impact.

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees relating to performance bonds on certain construction supply contracts and financial
commitments of haulage contractors made in the normal course of business, which are not expected to
crystallise amounted to £5,587,000 (2021 - £5,268,000).

The Company has been notified of a number of claims from former employees in relation to alleged health
related issues. The Directors do not consider it probable that an outflow of economic resources will be
required to settle the obligation nor can the amount of any obligation be measured with sufficient reliability.

Capital commitments

At 31 December the Company had capital commitments as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements 146 241
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31. Commitments under operating leases

At 31 December the Company had future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable operating
leases as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Not later than 1 year 379 216

32. Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 8(k) of FRS 101 not to disclose
transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries in the group headed by Heidelberg Materials AG. Balances
outstanding at 31 December with related parties, are as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Amounts owed by ultimate parent undertaking 251,759 193,904
Amounts owed by indirect/direct parent undertakings 328,380 328,380
Amounts owed by indirect/direct subsidiary undertakings 8,596 11,303
Amounts owed by fellow group subsidiary undertakings 9,232 2177
Amounts owed to indirect/direct subsidiary undertakings {116,183) {120,938)
Amounts owed to fellow group subsidiary undertakings (201,353) {208,953)

280,431 205,873

33. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The Company's immediate parent undertaking is UDS (No 10), a company registered in England and
Wales. The Company's ultimate parent undertaking is Heidelberg Materials AG, a company registered in
Germany. The largest and smallest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that
headed by Heidelberg Materials AG. Copies of the consolidated financial statements of Heidelberg
Materials AG may be obtained from Berliner Strasse 6, D 63120 Heidelberg, Germany.
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Name

Country of
incorporation

Group
ownership %

Registered office

A.R.C. {Western) Limited

Al Services (Manchester) Limited
ARC Concrete {Anglia) Limited

ARC South Wales Limited

ARC South Wales Mortar Limited
ARC South Wales Quarries Limited
ARC South Wales Surfacing Limited
Claughton Manor Brick Limited
(The)

Drew Group Holdings Limited

F.C. Precast Concrete Limited
Hanson Aggregates Marine Limited
Hanson Aggregates South Wales
Holdings Limited

Hanson Aggregates South Wales
Limited

Hanson Bath and Portland Stone
Limited

Hanson Blocks North Limited
Hanson Building Products (2003)
Limited

Hanson Concrete Products Limited
Hanson Crewing Services Limited
Hanson Facing Bricks Limited
Hanson Marine Holdings Limited
Hanson Marine Limited

Hanson Quarry Products Holdings
Limited

Hanson Quarry Products Trade
Finance Limited

Hanson Quarry Products Ventures
Limited

Holme %and & Ballast LLP

Humber Sand and Gravel Limited

ISIS Management Company
Limited

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

49

100

100
100

100

100

100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100

100

100

245

50

31.08

Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX

New Milton, United
Kingdom

*
*

*

Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX

New Milton, United
Kingdom
CEMEX House, Evreux

Way, CV21 20T Rugby,

United Kingdom

1st Floor, Unit 16, Manor

Court Business Park,

Y011 3TU Scarborough,

United Kingdom
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Country of Group

Name incorporation ownership %  Redgistered office

Kingston Minerals Limited England and Wales 100 *

Manchester Waste Recycling England and Wales 100 *

Limited

Marples Ridgway Limited England and Wales 100 *

Mendip Rail Limited England and Wales S0 Bardon Hall, Copt Oak
Road, LE67 9P) Markfield,
United Kingdom

Milton Hall {(Southend) Brick England and Wales 00 *

Company Limited (The)

National Brick Company Limited England and Wales 100 *

National Star Limited England and Wales 100 *

New Milton Concrete Limited England and Wales 49 Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX
New Milton, United
Kingdom

New Milton Sand and Ballast England and Wales 49 Caird Avenue, BH25 SPX

Limited New Milton, United
Kingdom

North Tyne Roadstone Limited England and Wales 50 Ground Floor T3 Trinity
Park, Bickenhill Lane, B37
7ES Birmingham, United
Kingdom

Pencrete Limited England and Wales 100 *

Purfleet Aggregates Limited England and Wales 100 *

Samuel Wilkinson & Sons Limited England and Wales 100 *

Seagoe Concrete Products Limited  England and Wales 100 *

Small Lots (Mix-It) Limited England and Wales 100 *

Smiths Concrete Limited England and Wales 49 Enslow, Kidlington, OX5
3AY Oxford, United
Kingdom

Solent industrial Estates Limited England and Wales 49 Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX
New Milton, United
Kingdom

The Purfleet Ship to Shore England and Wales 50 *

Conveyor Company Limited

W.G. Hibbs & Co. Limited England and Wales 49 Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX

New Milton, United
Kingdom

* The registered office of the investments as at 31 December 2022 was Hanson House, 14 Castle Hill,
Maidenhead, SL6 41). After the year end, the registered office of these investments was changed to
Second Floor, Arena Court, Crown Lane, Maidenhead, Berkshire, SL6 8GZ.
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The registered office of Humber Sand and Gravel Limited was changed after the year end to Cemex
House, Binley Business Park, Harry Weston Road, Coventry, CV3 2TY.

The registered office of ISIS Management Company Limited was changed after the year end to 5th
Floor Minerva House, 29 East Parade, Leeds, L51 5PS.
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